



Aotearoa New Zealand Strategic Framework for Managing COVID-19

2023

Released 2023 health.govt.nz

Citation: Ministry of Health. 2023. *Aotearoa New Zealand Strategic Framework for Managing COVID-19*. Wellington: Ministry of Health.

Published in September 2023 by the Ministry of Health PO Box 5013, Wellington 6140, New Zealand

ISBN 978-1-991075-54-3 (online) HP 8827



This document is available at health.govt.nz



This work is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International licence. In essence, you are free to: share ie, copy and redistribute the material in any medium or format; adapt ie, remix, transform and build upon the material. You must give appropriate credit, provide a link to the licence and indicate if changes were made.

Contents

Foreword	1
Introduction	2
Most likely trajectory of COVID-19 for Aotearoa New Zealand	2
Purpose of this strategic framework	3
Drawing on a strengthened health system	4
Broader emergency management context	5
Te Tiriti o Waitangi	6
Principles guiding our approach	8
Equitable: Equity is embedded throughout	8
Proportionate: Our response is proportionate	8
Strategic framework overview	10
Overarching goal	11
Strategic outcomes and objectives	11
Toolkit of measures to manage COVID-19	15
Community public health measures	15
Border measures (air and maritime)	15
Support for individuals and communities	16
System enablers	16
Determining which measures to apply	17
Legal framework	17
Factors determining which tools and measures we use	18
Implementation	21
Appendix: Description of measures to manage COVID-19	22
List of Tables	
Table 1: Considerations for deciding which tools and measures to apply	18
Table 2: How we calibrate the response according to the potential impact outbreak	of the 20

Foreword

The Aotearoa New Zealand Strategic Framework for Managing COVID-19 sets out the direction for the long-term management of COVID-19 for our country.

The COVID-19 virus continues to evolve, as will its impact and our response. This strategic framework builds on and replaces the *National Action Plan 3*¹ and the *Summary of Aotearoa New Zealand's Strategic Framework for COVID-19 Variants of Concern – Summary for Cabinet*². It is a single framework that outlines the outcomes we seek, and the priorities which will get us there, as we work together on the long-term management of COVID-19.

COVID-19 is likely to represent a challenge to public health for some time. While there is inherent uncertainty with a virus that continues to mutate, we have better tools and are better placed to respond than when the virus first emerged.

Immunity resulting from the cumulative effects of vaccination and previous infection is reducing the severity of the illness in our population. And for those at greater risk, antivirals are protecting against severe disease.

Our reformed public health system puts us in the best stead to deliver an integrated service, and our strong public health focus will serve everyone equally.

Now that the last remaining mandatory COVID-19 measures have been removed, we are shifting our management of COVID-19 from an emergency response, and focusing on improving our resilience to future pandemics and our management of other infectious diseases.

This strategic framework supports this shift and will harness our efforts toward the high-level goal of pae ora – healthy futures, by protecting Aotearoa New Zealand and the individual and collective wellbeing of our people from the impacts of COVID-19.

Dr Diana Sarfati Te Tumu Whakarae mō te Hauora Director-General of Health

National Crisis Management Centre Planning Manager. 2020. National Action Plan 3: National Crisis Management Centre. Unite against COVID-19. URL: https://covid19.govt.nz/assets/resources/legislation-and-key-documents/COVID19-National-Action-Plan-3-as-of-22-April-extended.pdf (accessed 1 August 2023).

² Manatū Hauora. 2022. Summary of Aotearoa New Zealand's Strategic Framework for COVID-19 Variants of Concern – Summary for Cabinet. Manatū Hauora. URL: www.health.govt.nz/system/files/documents/pages/220601_final_summary_of_voc_sf_for_cabine t_paper_21_june.pdf (accessed 1 August 2023).

Introduction

The COVID-19 pandemic has been one of the most significant global events in a generation. It has had far-reaching social, health and economic impacts, well beyond the acute impact on human health. Lives and livelihoods have been disrupted, millions have died worldwide, and for many, the way we work, learn, travel and socialise has changed.

Internationally, and here in Aotearoa New Zealand, the pandemic has highlighted the need for better overall pandemic preparedness. We need more resilient systems with the agility to surge during crises and mitigate the shocks of public health emergencies.

Despite significant efforts, COVID-19 has exacerbated existing inequities, with its direct and indirect impacts in Aotearoa New Zealand falling more heavily on Māori, Pacific peoples, those with pre-existing health conditions, disabled people, ethnic communities and those with lower incomes.

The long-term impacts of COVID-19 are also becoming clearer, including persistent post-acute sequalae (long COVID), delayed and deferred health care, workforce impacts and changes in societal trust and behaviours.

All indications are that COVID-19 will be with us for the foreseeable future. We need to ensure we are well positioned to manage COVID-19 over the long term. We need to build on the gains we have made and have confidence that our systems and communities will be better prepared to respond to future waves of COVID-19, as well as other infectious agents with pandemic potential.

Most likely trajectory of COVID-19 for Aotearoa New Zealand

Based on the behaviour of the virus to date, we can expect emergent variants displaying increased 'immune evasion³' and/or transmissibility. In combination with waning immunity, these will lead to a consistent base level of new COVID-19 infections with several outbreaks or waves each year.

The changing patterns of circulating subvariants with immune evasive properties mean that reinfections will be common. While the combined effect of vaccination and previous exposure to COVID-19 is reducing the severity of infection, all infections carry a risk of illness, hospitalisation, death and disability from long COVID.

COVID-19 infections do not currently follow a seasonal pattern like other respiratory infections. However, infection rates are likely to increase as immunity wanes and at

³ Immune evasion is where pathogenic organisms, such as variants of the COVID-19 virus, bypass or suppress a body's attempts to detect or kill them.

times of the year (for example, winter) when people are more likely to gather indoors, which increases the risk of transmission.

The size, timing and duration of the peaks and baseline trends of cases, hospitalisations and mortality is uncertain due to the current and future variant mix in the community. A complex mixture of sub-variants co-circulating at the same time, as seen in 2023, is likely to continue. At this stage, an increase in severity is unlikely but remains a possibility.

The emergence (or re-emergence) of a new non-Omicron variant (most likely from a zoonotic reservoir or chronic infection from an immunocompromised case, somewhere locally or globally) leading to significant increases in cases and severe disease is less likely, but this too, remains a possibility.

Purpose of this strategic framework

This strategic framework responds to the changing context, managing COVID-19 as part of 'business as usual' for the health system rather than through an extraordinary all-of-government emergency management crisis response. It does this by providing a clear, coherent and coordinated approach to government action on COVID-19.

Specifically, the framework:

- provides a single source of direction for all government actions on COVID-19
 (This allows agencies greater coordination and focus, ensuring: tools and measures support each other effectively, agencies can be as effective possible with limited resources and agencies address the determinants and impacts of COVID-19.)
- provides clarity and transparency around what the government's priorities are for COVID-19 (This helps individuals, communities, businesses, providers, researchers and other interested parties understand what the government is doing and why, with the increased certainty helping individuals and communities better protect themselves against COVID-19.)
- ensures an effective transition to the new business-as-usual system for managing COVID-19 (This helps build a more resilient and coordinated response to pandemic events, allowing COVID-19 to be managed alongside other communicable diseases, ensuring lessons are properly applied and our overall health system comes out of this period stronger overall.)

The framework also recognises that, while we transition our management of COVID-19 to a business-as-usual state, the virus still presents unique challenges that demand a targeted approach. This is because:

- COVID-19 has specific characteristics that distinguish it from other influenza-like illnesses in treatment and care, including post-infection conditions, such as long COVID, and the potential for major impacts on our health system
- frequent mutations in the SARS-CoV-2 virus result in variants with immune evasion properties, which means we will need to maintain a focus on vaccine and antiviral research and developments

- the impacts of COVID-19 remain very uneven across communities, requiring targeted actions
- we have a legacy of managing COVID-19 through emergency powers and legislation, and this requires deliberate work to transition to a more mainstreamed approach.

Drawing on a strengthened health system

The impact of COVID-19 on our society has highlighted the need for a strengthened and resilient health system to deal with pandemic prevention, preparedness, response and recovery. The 2022 health system reforms provide us with a key opportunity to deliver this. The overall outcome from these changes is a health system that protects, promotes and improves the health of all New Zealanders, across the continuum of need and throughout their lives. Achieving equity in access, quality of care and outcomes is fundamental to achieve this. Key elements in the reforms include:

- · longer-term planning
- clearer decision-making and accountabilities
- working collectively and in partnership with communities and other organisations
- · consumer, whānau and community voices reflected in the health system
- strengthened public health capability
- clarity over decisions and services that should be delivered nationally, regionally or locally.

The COVID-19 response has also helped model elements of this approach, with integrated health and welfare response at the community level, decentralised funding and decision-making in a high-trust model and use of technologies to improve access and outreach.

The health reforms also seek to better fulfil the Crown's obligations under Te Tiriti o Waitangi (Te Tiriti) and to drive improvements in hauora Māori. This means Māori authority on decision-making matters of importance to Māori, as well as engaging with Māori to develop and deliver services and programmes that reflect Māori needs and aspirations. Our experience to date has proved that COVID-19 services and programmes designed and led by Māori do just this.

COVID-19 also required us to look at the broader determinants of health to address those factors that increase the risk of poor outcomes for those infected with the virus and to build greater resilience within our various communities.

The threat of a new pandemic remains a possibility for which we need to be prepared. Our experience with COVID-19 gives us the opportunity to build a more resilient, connected and equitable health system, transforming the way we prepare for and respond to public health threats and work towards better health and wellbeing outcomes for all.

Broader emergency management context

This strategic framework is nested within a broader architecture of emergency management documents. The overarching framework is provided by the *National Civil Defence Emergency Management Plan*⁴.

Sitting under that plan is the *National Health Emergency Plan*⁵, which creates the framework to guide the health and disability sector in its approach to preparing for, responding to and recovering from health-related risks and hazards. This COVID-19 strategic framework is one of the sub-strategies and plans that sit under the *National Health Emergency Plan*.

⁴ See the plan on the New Zealand Legislation website at URL: www.legislation.govt.nz/regulation/public/2015/0140/latest/DLM6485804.html#DLM6485804

Manatū Hauora. 2015. National Health Emergency Plan: A framework for the health and disability sector. Wellington: Manatū Hauora. URL: www.health.govt.nz/publication/national-health-emergency-plan-framework-health-and-disability-sector (accessed 1 August 2023).

Te Tiriti o Waitangi

Te Tiriti confers on the Crown a responsibility to protect Māori and all that is important to Māori. It requires the Crown to engage with Māori in good faith and be well informed of the views of iwi and Māori communities. It obliges the Crown to take all steps practicable to protect and support Māori health and wellbeing. This includes efforts to counteract inequitable health outcomes and prevent COVID-19 impacts (both direct and indirect) from falling disproportionately on Māori.

The Pae Ora (Healthy Futures) Act 2022 outlines principles for improving equity in health outcomes for Māori. Health entities must be guided by these principles as far as reasonably practicable, having regard to all the circumstances, including any resource constraints, and to the extent applicable to them. At a high level, these principles are that the health sector should:

- be equitable
- engage with Māori, other population groups and other people to develop and deliver services and programmes that reflect the needs and aspirations of those groups
- provide opportunities for Māori to exercise decision-making authority on matters of importance to Māori
- provide choice of quality services to Māori
- protect and promote people's health and wellbeing, particularly the health and wellbeing of Māori.

In addition, the COVID-19 Māori Health Protection Plan⁶, Whakamaua: Māori Health Action Plan 2020–2025⁷ and Te Pae Tata Interim New Zealand Health Plan 2022⁸ all inform government activities in giving effect to Te Tiriti in the health sector.

This strategic framework embeds these principles across all elements. Specifically, the framework:

- commits to working in partnership with Māori in preparing for and managing COVID-19 and integrating COVID-19 management into a strengthened health system
- includes Māori tino rangatiratanga in the COVID-19 response
- reinforces the value of providing meaningful options: the choice of targeted and tailored services and community-led programmes that reflect the needs and aspirations of Māori

⁶ Manatū Hauora. 2021. COVID-19 Māori Health Protection Plan. Wellington: Manatū Hauora. URL: www.health.govt.nz/publication/covid-19-maori-health-protection-plan (accessed 1 August 2023).

Manatū Hauora. 2020. Whakamaua: Māori Health Action Plan 2020–2025. Wellington: Manatū Hauora. URL: www.health.govt.nz/publication/whakamaua-maori-health-action-plan-2020-2025 (accessed 1 August 2023).

⁸ Te Aka Whai Ora, Te Whatu Ora. 2022. Te Pae Tata Interim New Zealand Health Plan 2022. Te Aka Whai Ora – Māori Health Authority, Te Whatu Ora – Health New Zealand. URL: www.tewhatuora.govt.nz/publications/te-pae-tata-interim-new-zealand-health-plan-2022/ (accessed 1 August 2023).

- emphasises the importance of understanding and resolving inequities in our management of COVID-19, including addressing the determinants of inequity
- treats wellbeing by seeking to minimise the health impacts of COVID-19, and embed COVID-19 services and supports as part of health care centred on whānau
- applies past experience in transitioning to a new and strengthened business-asusual approach that integrates equity into our way of managing not just COVID-19 but health service provision overall
- emphasises the value of data and information for Māori communities and providers.

Principles guiding our approach

Our approach to managing COVID-19 is guided by two key principles. These principles inform how the government prioritises its activities, how services are delivered and, ultimately, how we act to achieve our goal of protecting individual and collective health and wellbeing from the impacts of COVID-19.

Equitable: Equity is embedded throughout

Our approach must actively reduce health disparities, to achieve equity in health outcomes. The COVID-19 pandemic and the response so far has, at times, had a disproportionate impact on some population groups and has highlighted and exacerbated existing social, economic and health inequities. Our response to date has shown that a tailored and targeted response for at-risk populations is appropriate and necessary.

An equitable approach recognises and embeds actions to address unfair, avoidable or remediable differences to achieve equitable outcomes. It encompasses a targeted approach to at-risk populations. It also supports the Crown's efforts in meeting its obligations to Māori under Te Tiriti.

An actively pro-equity approach also implies the need to address the determinants of health and those underlying factors that make some populations more vulnerable to poor outcomes from COVID-19.

Proportionate: Our response is proportionate

Our response to COVID-19 must be effective yet proportionate. This requires basing our interventions on the best available evidence and broad-based insights from communities and stakeholders. It also requires an ongoing commitment to measuring and reviewing the effectiveness and impact of our COVID-19 response and taking prompt action to recalibrate and update that response as required.

When determining which measures to use, we will seek to minimise or mitigate any social, economic and/or health impacts that result from our response. Efforts to manage the public health risk that COVID-19 presents need to also consider proportionality to a range of other competing challenges that need addressing at any one time, such as other health emergencies, other infectious diseases and other long-term public health challenges and pressures.

Strategic framework overview

This framework outlines an overall goal, the outcomes we are aiming to achieve, the objectives that will help us achieve those outcomes, the role of communications and the principles, including those of Te Tiriti, that underpin all elements of our approach.



Overarching goal

Our individual and collective health and wellbeing are protected from the impacts of COVID-19

This high-level goal draws on the ambition of the health system: pae ora – healthy futures, where all New Zealanders live longer, healthier lives.

Our response to COVID-19 will seek to protect the health and wellbeing of individuals and communities through a proportionate and equitable response to managing COVID-19 in Aotearoa New Zealand, while building resilience for future pandemics and other infectious diseases.

Strategic outcomes and objectives

PREPARE: We are prepared for future waves and new variants

Our experience with COVID-19 has highlighted the importance of being prepared for future threats to public health. This requires us to have surveillance and risk-assessment systems in place. We must ensure our approach is based on evidence and informed by global intelligence, an understanding of the impact of our interventions and our capacity and capability to scale up a response if needed and to take steps to prevent threats from occurring in the first place.

Preparedness also recognises that Aotearoa New Zealand is part of a wider global community. It entails international cooperation, information sharing and capacity building, particularly with our neighbours in the Pacific.

Objectives to achieve this outcome

Vaccination: Vaccines protect against serious illness and reduce transmission.

Knowledge: The virus, its impact and the effectiveness of our response are understood.

Resource: Core capacity and capability are retained and are scalable if needed.

Key elements

 Maintaining prevention and protection from severe illness and reducing transmission through high levels of vaccination. In so doing we will ensure equitable and effective rollout of vaccines, with sufficient supply to support our priorities.

- Applying knowledge about the virus, its impact, and the effectiveness of our response. This involves surveillance and intelligence and also research and using data to calibrate our response against the impacts that are occurring.
- Ensuring we have capability to scale up our response if needed across social and health care services and providers, including Kaupapa Māori, community, primary and hospital services, as well as care in the community. This scaling-up could also happen across testing, contact tracing, isolation and quarantine, and border management, as well as communications, mask use and ventilation requirements.

MANAGE: We minimise the direct and wider impacts of COVID-19

We minimise the impacts of COVID-19 on Aotearoa New Zealand and our people. This means mitigating the direct and wider impacts on:

- individuals who contract COVID-19 in respect of both their physical and psychosocial health and wellbeing, including those with long COVID
- whānau, communities and services that support those with COVID-19 or that are otherwise impacted by the pandemic
- the economy, including businesses impacted by the pandemic and the measures to manage it
- the health and disability systems, including disruption to non-COVID-19 care
- other essential services, including education and welfare.

Objectives to achieve this outcome

Transmission: Transmission is managed proportionately to the public health risk.

Care: Treatment and care protect against serious illness and improve health outcomes.

Wider impacts: Wider health, social and economic impacts are minimised.

Key elements

- Managing transmission in a proportionate way according to the public health risk, including drawing on tools such as isolation, infection prevention and control (for example, public messaging on hygiene, mask use, ventilation, etc), testing and diagnostics, as needed.
- Providing care and treatment that is equitable and effective. This includes
 encouraging the availability and use of therapeutics, ensuring access to care for atrisk groups and populations and emphasising the importance of holistic health care
 that is centred on whānau.
- Minimising and addressing the wider impacts of COVID-19 and the impacts of our response. As appropriate, and in line with available resources, we will consider the needs for wider support where impacts are likely to be felt well beyond acute health care needs.

INTEGRATE: We strengthen and integrate resilience across our systems

This strategic outcome focuses on the shift awayfrom a state of emergency response, maintaining the gains, drawing on the lessons learned and integrating the management of COVID-19 into a strengthened and more resilient health system.

Objectives to achieve this outcome

Transition: COVID-19 preparedness and response are integrated across the health system.

Decisions: Fit-for-purpose legal and decision-making frameworks are in place.

Lessons: Lessons from COVID-19 are applied across the health system.

Key elements

- Transitioning COVID-19 management activities. This means managing the virus as
 part of our core health and disability services and as part of broader communicable
 disease management while identifying and embedding what has enabled
 communities to respond successfully to any pandemic.
- Having fit-for-purpose governance, decision-making and legal frameworks that can be adapted as needed and include partnership with Māori.
- Drawing on lessons learned to build a more resilient health system. This involves supporting inquiries and reviews, learning from lived experiences of individuals, communities and groups and applying this knowledge and understanding to improve our response to COVID-19 and other respiratory infectious diseases more generally.

COMMUNICATIONS

Public health communications protect and promote health and wellbeing

Communications about COVID-19 that engage communities, build social trust and mitigate misinformation and disinformation will continue to be important across all aspects of how we manage COVID-19 and other public health challenges. Information must be designed and disseminated in ways that reach all audiences. It must: empower individuals and communities to make informed choices, support delivery of our response when acting as guidance and ultimately empower New Zealanders to promote and protect the health of their wider community, whānau and themselves.

To achieve this objective, we must:

• use effective communication methods and a range of relevant and tailored channels to reach and engage key audiences, including culturally appropriate methods

- communicate risk, to ensure the public and specific stakeholders understand the situation, what is being done about it, why and what part they play
- build public health understanding of the science of infection transmission, prevention and vaccination, including the modifiable determinants of epidemics/pandemics and the factors that make some people more likely to experience severe outcomes of infectious diseases
- regularly monitor the effectiveness of public communications
- monitor the prevalence and profiles of misinformation and disinformation to better understand how to address these two forms of information
- facilitate information sharing with providers involved in managing COVID-19.

Toolkit of measures to manage COVID-19

Many tools are available to manage the direct and indirect impacts of COVID-19. Each can be calibrated up or down depending on the level of risk and the outcomes we are seeking to achieve.

The tools we use must be underpinned by a body of knowledge about their effectiveness and impact. We need to understand the costs of the intervention relative to the benefits being sought. This means we need to monitor, measure and review the impact of each intervention over time and as the context changes.

Measures that have been used to manage COVID-19 since the beginning of the pandemic are listed below. These are described in more detail in the appendix.

Community public health measures

- Vaccination
- Therapeutics (including antivirals)
- Testing
- Isolation
- Quarantine
- Record keeping
- Contact tracing and case investigation
- Social and physical distancing measures, including event and gathering limits
- Infection prevention and control (IPC) practices in health and disability settings
- IPC in community settings
- Face masks and personal protective equipment
- · Ventilation and air filtration
- Travel restrictions
- Isolation requirements
- Shielding.

Border measures (air and maritime)

- Entry restrictions
- Pre-departure testing

- Post-arrival testing
- Vaccination requirements
- Quarantine and isolation.

Support for individuals and communities

- Health and welfare services to support individuals and whānau to isolate/quarantine, as well as those impacted by COVID-19 (for example, Care in the Community services)
- Distance health care advice, consultation and support, delivered remotely using communication or information technologies (for example, telehealth services)
- Health care treatment and support, including antivirals.
 - primary care (for example, general practitioners, practice nurses) and community-based services (for example, kaupapa Māori and Pacific providers, COVID-19 hubs, and lay vaccinators
 - community pharmacies to dispense medication (for example, antivirals) and deliver vaccinations
 - tertiary care (hospitals) providing intensive and high dependency care for people who are serious ill
- Financial and welfare support for individuals and whānau affected by COVID-19 and/or the measures to manage it
- Financial and advisory support to businesses and organisations impacted by measures to manage COVID-19.

System enablers

- Surveillance
- Communications
- Science, research and technological innovations
- Government funding
- Workforce
- Information and Communications Technology (ICT) systems
- Regulatory and legislative tools
- · Partnerships and engagement
- Governance and decision-making frameworks.

Determining which measures to apply

Since 2020, the pandemic has required considerable all-of-government and all-of-community cooperation and effort. Going forward, COVID-19 will be largely led by Manatū Hauora (the Ministry of Health) and its partner health agencies.

Public health and social measures to control COVID-19 can have considerable social and economic costs. These measures must be risk based, regularly reviewed on the basis of timely and robust public health advice, effectively communicated and, where feasible, targeted to minimise broader social and economic costs.

In delivering this strategic framework through the tools and measures identified above, it is important to:

- understand the potential impacts of both COVID-19 and any potential measures
- decide, in line with our principles, which tools should be employed to meet the strategic framework's outcomes and objectives.

Legal framework

The COVID-19 Public Health Response Act 2020 (the Act) is the primary legal framework for enabling laws and regulations as part of the COVID-19 response.

This Act allows the Minister of Health to make orders to give effect to the public health response to COVID-19. It was designed to provide a flexible legislative tool to enable the government to respond quickly to changing circumstances over the course of a pandemic and ultimately to protect human life.

In addition to this Act, the following legal instruments are also available to support or enable elements of the response.

- The Health Act 1956, which outlines the powers of the Director-General and medical officers of health
- The Epidemic Preparedness Act 2006, which outlines the requirements and powers available during an epidemic, including being able to issue epidemic notices
- Epidemic notices (issued under the Epidemic Preparedness Act) or authorisation notices (issued under the COVID-19 Public Health Response Act 2020), which allow for the making of COVID-19 orders
- Orders, made under the COVID-19 Public Health Response Act 2020, which can make tools or measures mandatory
- Other agency-specific legislation.

If the COVID-19 context were to deteriorate significantly, and a broader set of measures were needed quickly, parliament might choose to pass or amend laws under urgency.

Factors determining which tools and measures we use

To determine what measures are used to manage COVID-19, decision makers consider a number of factors. Table 1 provides a suite of relevant considerations. These considerations help determine which scenario may apply and, within that, which set of tools are most appropriate to meeting the strategic framework's outcomes and objectives.

Table 1: Considerations for deciding which tools and measures to apply

Health factors

- Epidemiological trends, modelling and international experience
- Understanding of the realised or potential burden of disease, including premature death and longterm illness/disability
- Variant characteristics, including immune evasion, clinical severity and transmissibility
- The current level of protection from severe outcomes, including population immunity levels and availability and uptake of therapeutics
- Health system capacity, including demand from COVID-19 as well as demand from other health sector service provision

Factors relating to the effectiveness of the specific tools or measures

- Effectiveness of tools or measures in achieving their intended purpose, including regulatory costs and benefits, availability of legislative tools, ability to enforce a mandatory measure and alternatives to regulation
- Level of health gain, cost impacts and cost-effectiveness expected from the tool/measure or suite of tools/measures
- The extent to which people and businesses may be able to understand, accept and adhere to the tool or measure
- What support or exemptions, if any, may need to accompany the tool or measure
- The equity of any potential exemptions, and the ability to implement and resource an exemptions system
- · How each tool or measure interacts with other tools or measures to achieve the objective

Proportionality

- Equivalence with how other health risks are managed
- Potential for the tools or measures to impact on human rights and the New Zealand Bill of Rights Act 1990
- The trade-offs, such as direct and indirect impacts on communities, businesses, education, etc

Equity considerations

 The tool or measure's actual or potential impacts on individuals, groups or communities at greater risk of COVID-19 impacts

Te Tiriti o Waitangi

 Consistency with the Crown's obligations under Te Tiriti, including the principles of equity, partnership, tino rangatiratanga, active protection and options

Factors relating to the social and economic impacts of the specific tools or measures

- Data relating to the tool or measure's impacts on the economy and society more broadly
- Any regional impacts, including regional disparities in the tool or measure's application
- Social impacts, and whether they be widespread or specific to communities or groups, including the impact on communities' ability to support members
- Impacts on businesses or organisations, including financial, logistical or related to supply chains or the availability of staff/personnel
- · Impacts across the wider economy, including on macroeconomic indicators
- Any mental health impacts of the tool or measure
- Impacts on public service provision and the ability to access core public services
- Any impacts on educational outcomes, including at pre-school, primary, secondary and tertiary levels
- Impacts on broader social service provision, including the ability of individuals or communities to access support for their wellbeing beyond the impacts of COVID-19
- Any impacts on supply chains and transport service provision at local, regional and national levels

Operational implications

- The cost and feasibility to operationalise the tool or measure, including whether the tool or measure is, or can be, part of new business as usual or requires system adjustments to be established
- Ability for the tool or measure to be easily understood and complied with
- Ability for a legal requirement to be enforced.

Many of these factors will require evidence, consultation, and engagement to be fully considered. Once relevant factors are reviewed, the government will determine which measures and tools should be used to meet the outcomes and objectives in the strategic framework. The below table outlines how our measures would be generally calibrated across low, medium, and high impact outbreaks.

Table 2: How we calibrate the response according to the potential impact of the outbreak

Table 2 sets out the continuum of likely response actions, depending on expected impacts. Decisions on calibration will consider the *unmitigated* impacts, that is, what impacts are expected before any public health measures are applied.

	Low impacts expected	Medium impacts expected	High impacts expected
Expected virus character	Modest transmission advantages and low realised severity	Moderate level of realised severity or moderate transmission advantages	Moderate transmission and realised severity or high transmission or realised severity
Public health measures	Mostly guidance	Mandatory measures possible	Mandatory measures likely
Border measures	None	Limited requirements possible	Requirements in place
Supporting measures	Low level of investment Narrow eligibility for support	Medium level of investment Moderate level of eligibility	High level of investment Broad eligibility
Enablers	Minimum dedicated capacity Surge capacity retained for preparedness	Activate some capacity Services scale-up medium	Activate most capacity Services scale-up high
Emergency legal powers	Generally not needed	May be needed	Likely needed
Decision makers	Government agencies	Generally, Ministers	Cabinet

Implementation

This strategic framework reflects an all-of-government approach. This means it includes and provides strategic direction for all relevant government agencies, Ministers and Crown entities. The framework also consolidates other COVID-19-related documentation to provide a single, coordinated approach to managing COVID-19.

Appendix: Description of measures to manage COVID-19

This table sets out a range of measure to manage the direct and indirect impacts of COVID-19. Each measure can be calibrated up or down depending on the level of risk and the outcomes we are seeking to achieve.

Community public h	ealth measures
Vaccination	Vaccines to prepare the body's immune system to protect against COVID- 19 Scope: Primary vaccination plus additional doses targeted to key
	populations to maintain protection, particularly against severe illness
Therapeutics (including antivirals)	Medicines and other treatments (such as oxygen support) to alleviate or prevent serious illness or treat COVID-19 disease or the symptoms associated with it
	Scope: Prescription, pharmacy or general sale medicines and other treatments
Testing	Diagnostic: Testing of symptomatic people – to support clinical and public health decisions by confirming or refuting a diagnosis and enabling a clinical and/or public health pathway for an individual or population group
	Screening: Testing of asymptomatic people – to identify cases early to inform the need to isolate, support early treatment and care (particularly for those at greater risk) and reduce onward transmission
	Surveillance: Testing at the population or subpopulation level to monitor the frequency and distribution of infections (including identification of new variants) and provide intelligence to improve understanding of the epidemiology and response efficacy
	Scope: Workplace, community, health facility or at-home testing
Isolation	Separation of people with confirmed COVID-19 infection Scope: Home or facility based
Quarantine	Separation of people who are not confirmed cases but who may have been exposed to a case and are potentially infectious Scope: Home or facility based
Record keeping	Record keeping of locations a person has visited to help with timely contact tracing if there is an exposure
	Scope: Scanning a QR code, using the COVID-19 tracer app or maintaining a manual diary

Community public h	Community public health measures		
Contact tracing and case investigation	Interviews to identify potential contacts of a suspected or confirmed case, includes provision of appropriate testing, isolation, treatment and support advice to minimise the risk of transmission and to support wellbeing Scope: Face to face or technologically enhanced (for example, telehealth), electronic survey and assessment		
Social and physical distancing measures, including event and gathering limits	Actions to reduce the frequency and proximity of contact between people to decrease the risk of transmission Scope: Settings closures (for example, schools, public facilities, workplaces, restaurants, bars), minimising mass gatherings, defined capacity limits, defined physical distancing limits (for example, 2 metres) and encouragement to work from home		
Infection prevention and control practices	Health and disability settings: A wide range of precautions to reduce the risk of infection and onward transmission, including wearing personal protective equipment (goggles / face shields, aprons, gowns, gloves and face masks), hand hygiene, physical barriers and dedicated pathways, isolation rooms, remote triage areas, cleaning and disinfecting, ventilation and air purification, steps to protect clinically vulnerable patients, test requirements for visitors, etc Community settings: Encouraging behaviours to reduce the risk of transmission, such as cough and sneeze etiquette, staying home if sick and hand hygiene		
Face masks and personal protective equipment	An IPC measure to reduce the risk of infection and onward transmission by reducing the inhalation and spread of airborne particles Scope: Targeted to specified settings, such as public transport, schools, health care services or specified population groups (for example, household contacts when in public areas, visitors to health and disability settings)		
Ventilation and air filtration	Ventilation and air filtration measures to lower viral concentrations in the air and reduce the likelihood of inhalation, infection and transmission Scope: Building design, fans, filters and the opening of windows and doors in buildings and public transport		
Travel restrictions	Domestic travel restrictions to limit or slow transmission of COVID-19 from one geographical location to another Scope: Advice or prohibitions to crossing geographical boundaries (can include requirements to produce evidence of a negative test to cross the boundary)		
Isolation requirements	Mandatory requirements to stay-at-home and not undertake non-essential travel to reduce the frequency and proximity of contact with people outside a person's household in order to reduce, limit or slow transmission		
Shielding	Actions to reduce the frequency and proximity of contact with others to reduce the risk of infection, such as limiting face-to-face contacts, avoiding crowds, education, limiting shopping or shopping online, working online, avoiding crowded public places and reducing unnecessary travel Scope: Advice generally aimed at protecting those at highest risk of serious illness		

Border measures (air and maritime)		
Entry restrictions	Limits on who can arrive in Aotearoa New Zealand via the air or maritime border to reduce the risk of COVID-19, and new variants, entering the country Scope: Restrictions can be broad or based on a traveller's place of origin where there may be a high incidence of COVID-19 or the presence of a new variant of concern	
Pre-departure testing	Evidence of a negative COVID-19 test before boarding an aircraft or ship to New Zealand to reduce the risk of a person with COVID-19 entering Aotearoa New Zealand and potentially infecting other travellers and seeding additional cases in the community	
Post-arrival testing	Testing after arrival in Aotearoa New Zealand to support early diagnosis and isolation Scope: Testing with rapid antigen tests (RATs) on specified days or if symptomatic within a specified day after arrival – may include taking a follow-up polymerase chain reaction (PCR) test to enable whole genome testing for variant identification and may include the requirement to report the test result	
Vaccination requirements	Evidence of having completed COVID-19 vaccinations before boarding an aircraft or ship to Aotearoa New Zealand – depending on the length of time since the last vaccination, this measure may reduce the risk of infection (and therefore reduce onward transmission) and/or reduce the risk of severe illness, which also reduces pressure on the Aotearoa New Zealand health system	
Quarantine	Separation of people who have recently arrived in Aotearoa New Zealand by advising or requiring them to isolate for a specified period or after testing negative Scope: Personal self-isolation (for example, at home) or facility-based isolation (for example, managed isolation and quarantine, MIQ)	
Isolation	Separation of people who have recently arrived in Aotearoa New Zealand and who have a confirmed COVID-19 infection by advising or requiring them to isolate for a specified period or after testing negative Scope: Personal self-isolation (for example, at home) or facility-based isolation (for example, MIQ)	
Prohibitions to board or arrive in Aotearoa New Zealand under certain circumstances	Provision for an airline or ship to prohibit a person from boarding/departing for or arriving in Aotearoa New Zealand if they have symptoms of COVID-19, have an active infection or are under a public health order to isolate – seeks to reduce the risk of an active case entering the country and seeding new cases Scope: Have active symptoms, are an active case or are under a public health order	

Support for individuals	and communities
Health and welfare services to support individuals and whānau to isolate/ quarantine	Provision of advice and welfare assistance to those who require additional support to self-isolate (if a confirmed case) or their whānau Scope: Can include food support, access to medicines and access to alternative accommodation for individuals who are unable to isolate safely at home or do not have a permanent address (that is, are homeless or in temporary accommodation) – can also assist with connecting individuals with various services to meet their immediate needs during and in transition from self-isolation
Distance health care advice, consultation and support	Remote delivery of health care advice and support using digital technologies for those with COVID-19 and their whānau Scope: Telephone, text / short messaging service (SMS) and phone and email and messaging systems
Health care treatment and support (primary, community-based and tertiary care)	Broad range of services for the diagnosis, care and treatment for those with COVID-19 infections and those with post-infection conditions (including long COVID), includes providing clinical care and therapeutics such as antivirals Scope: Testing, clinical assessment, treatment, manaaki / welfare support services and rehabilitation. Delivered through community care, pharmacies, primary and tertiary (hospitals) health care services
Financial and welfare support for individuals and whānau affected by COVID-19	Financial assistance to support those impacted by COVID-19 measures, such as payments to employers to help pay employees who have been advised to self-isolate because of COVID-19 and cannot work from home, and compensations to workers for loss of earnings during lock-down periods where they are unable to work from home Scope: Leave-support scheme, wage-subsidy schemes
Financial and advisory support to businesses and organisations impacted by COVID-	Financial assistance and advice to businesses to mitigate the impact of COVID-19 and the measures to contain it Scope: Advice through to financial payments and loans

Surveillance	Public health surveillance provides the scientific and factual information essential to inform decision-making and appropriate public health action – a tool to estimate the health status and behaviour of populations
	Scope: Population and subpopulation testing, border and waste-water testing, behavioural surveys, data on health system capacity, vaccine coverage, hospitalisation and mortality
Communications	Risk communication and dissemination of information using methods and channels that effectively reach intended audiences – such information needs to empower individuals, communities and other stakeholders to act in ways that promote and protect the health of their wider community, whānau and themselves and includes methods to understand and combat misinformation and disinformation
	Scope: Television, print, digital, social media and radio messaging, communication of research findings, information sharing providers, iwi and local providers

Cuetam analylan	
System enablers	
Science, research and technological innovations	Generation of research, science and technological knowledge that can be translated into innovations that help prevent and manage COVID-19 Scope: Vaccines, testing, therapeutics, infection prevention and control innovations, health promotion, data and digital technologies, virtual health care innovations, data sharing developments, etc
Government funding	Fiscal resources from the Crown to implement all aspects of the COVID-19 response and the longer-term management of COVID-19 as it becomes integrated into a strengthened health and disability system Scope: Funding through Votes Health; Social Development; Business, Science and Innovation; and Customs, as well as other government agencies
Workforce	Growing and developing a resilient, diverse and substantiable workforce for all aspects of the COVID-19 response Scope: Clinical and non-clinical staff, researchers, laboratory technicians, data analysts, pharmacists, lay vaccinators, public health specialists, kaiāwhina, etc
Information and communications technology	Ensuring the right information and communications technology (ICT) systems, tools and data are in place to support delivery of our response Scope: Systems and software to support delivery of our response, including
	the data and personnel enabling the systems to function effectively, whether centralised or decentralised
Regulatory and legislative tools	Regulatory and legislative tools used by the government to achieve a certain outcome, such as to require certain behaviours or actions to limit the spread of COVID-19, protect people from severe illness or mitigate the impact of COVID-19 – also includes global cooperation agreements and obligations, such as the International Health Regulations
	Scope: Includes Health Act 1956, Epidemic Preparedness Act 2006, COVID-19 Public Health Response Act 2020 (and orders made under this Act), Immigration Act 2009, Customs and Excise Act 2018, International Health Regulations (2005) and others
Partnerships and engagement	Broad range of actions to build relationships to contribute to a shared outcome
	Scope: Engaging with individuals, communities or organisations at national, regional and local levels, including whānau, hapori and iwi Māori.
Governance and decision-making frameworks	Fit-for-purpose and transparent decision-making arrangements at national, regional and local levels that can be adapted as needed to support various levels of the response, that consider Te Tiriti obligations to partner with Māori and ensuring Māori are part of the decision-making process and that provide access to appropriate technical expertise to support evidence-based decision making
	Scope: All-of-government, ministerial, agency or sector-specific at national, regional and local levels.